Knowledge Network Corporation

2018/19 ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN REPORT

July 2019





For more information on Knowledge Network Corporation contact:

4355 Mathissi Place Burnaby, B.C. Canada V5G 4S8

Phone: 604.431.2222 Toll Free: 1.877.456.6988

info@knowledge.ca

or visit our website at Knowledge.ca

Board Chair's Accountability Statement



The Knowledge Network Corporation 2018/19 Annual Service Plan Report compares the corporation's actual results to the expected results identified in the 2018/19 - 2020/21 Service Plan created in February 2018. I am accountable for those results as reported.

Maurine Karagianis

Chair, Knowledge Network Corporation Board of Directors

Table of Contents

Board Chair's Accountability Statement	3
Chair/CEO Report Letter	5
Purpose of the Annual Service Plan Report	6
Purpose of the Organization	6
Strategic Direction	7
Operating Environment	7
Report on Performance	8
Goals, Objectives, Measures and Targets	8
Financial Report	14
Discussion of Results	14
Resource Summary	15
Auditor's Report & Audited Financial Statements	19
Thank You to Our Donors	41
Appendix A – Additional Information	43
Corporate Governance	43
Organizational Overview	43
Contact Information	43
Appendix B – Subsidiaries and Operating Segments	44
Active Subsidiaries	44

Chair/CEO Report Letter



Maurine Karagianis Board Chair

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we are pleased to submit Knowledge Network Corporation's 2018/19 Annual Service Plan Report.

British Columbia's Knowledge Network is a trusted public service that informs, educates and inspires. Our programming shines a light on the environmental, social, cultural and economic forces that affect our daily lives – crucial to building and maintaining sustainable, healthy societies today and for generations to come.



Rudy Buttignol, C.M. President & CEO

Knowledge Network supports Government priorities by providing a universally accessible service that provides programs in the public interest. We make life more affordable by providing a high quality public service free and commercial-free through television and streaming services, with new apps and curated collections added this year.

To deliver the services that people count on, we provide programming to meet the diverse needs of viewers, such as educational content that fosters learning for

young children and their families and programs that connect seniors to their province and the world.

To build a strong, sustainable, innovative economy that works for everyone, we invest in original documentaries and programs for children. Four Knowledge Originals premiered in 2018/19: *Shut Up and Say Something, Looking at Edward Curtis, Living In HOpe* and *This Mountain Life*. Development opportunities for emerging and established filmmakers were also provided, most notably through the B.C. Documentary History Project Filmmaker Boot Camp. With the support of Creative B.C., Knowledge Network hosted filmmaker workshops about the multi-year documentary initiative commemorating the 150th anniversary of British Columbia's entry into Confederation in 2021.

In support of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People and the Truth and Reconciliation Calls to Action, Knowledge Network reflects Indigenous cultural diversity through programming and projects from Indigenous filmmakers.

As B.C.'s public broadcaster, we are grateful for the support from loyal donors across the province. In fiscal 2018/19, we exceeded our target for the Knowledge Partners Annual Fund, raising \$4.82 million. Increased donations have enabled us to support more B.C. stories by B.C. filmmakers.

As a Crown corporation, a regulated broadcaster and a registered charity, accountability and transparency guide all our planning and decision making. All new Board members receive a detailed orientation and participate in professional development opportunities. The CEO and Board Chair meet with the Minister throughout the year to ensure Knowledge Network Corporation actions are aligned with our Mandate Letter.

Maurine Karagianis

Maurine Karagianes

Chair, Knowledge Network Corporation

Rudy Buttignol, C.M.

Ludy &

President & CEO, Knowledge Network Corporation

Purpose of the Annual Service Plan Report

The Annual Service Plan Report (ASPR) is designed to meet the requirements of the *Budget Transparency and Accountability Act* (BTAA), which sets out the legislative framework for planning, reporting and accountability for Government organizations. Under the BTAA, the Crown Corporation's Board is required to report on the actual results of the Crown's performance related to the forecasted targets documented in the previous year's Service Plan.

Purpose of the Organization

Knowledge Network is a Crown corporation, created in 2008 under the <u>Knowledge Network</u> <u>Corporation Act</u> and it is federally licensed by the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission (CRTC). Knowledge Network is also a registered charity with the Canada Revenue Agency, engaging in fundraising activities through Knowledge Partners and the Knowledge Endowment Fund.

British Columbia's Knowledge Network is supported through donations from viewers and an annual operating grant from the Province of B.C. We are dedicated to the exploration of life, connecting British Columbians to the world through commercial-free programming anytime, anywhere.

Knowledge Network delivers educational content to British Columbians including content that informs and educates British Columbians about their province and about issues that are relevant to them. This content is delivered through mandatory carriage on cable, direct-to-home satellite and internet protocol television (IPTV) services. Programs are also available through streaming video at Knowledge.ca, KnowledgeKids.ca, the Knowledge apps and the Knowledge Kids Go apps. We develop, license and commission documentaries for broadcast on all platforms.

Subsidiaries

Knowledge-West Communications Corporation (KWCC) owned and operated BBC (British Broadcasting Corporation) Kids, a Canadian children's subscription channel. The BBC Kids channel closed in December 2018. The subsidiary will remain active, however, until 2019 when the final dividends are dispersed. For further information on KWCC, please see Appendix B.

Strategic Direction

The strategic direction set by Government in 2017 and expanded upon in the Board Chair's <u>Mandate Letter</u> from the Minister Responsible in 2018 shaped the <u>2018/19 Service Plan</u> and the results reported in this ASPR.

The following table highlights the key goals, objectives or strategies that support the key priorities of Government identified in the 2018/19 Knowledge Network Corporation Service Plan:

Government Priorities	Knowledge Network Corporation Aligns with These Priorities By:
Making life more affordable	• Offer a high quality public service (free and commercial free) through any platform British Columbians choose to use (Objective 2.1).
Delivering the services people count on	 Enhancing the accessibility and quality of Knowledge Network's regularly scheduled broadcast service to maintain its relevance and importance to British Columbians (Goal #1). Strengthening programming to meet the diverse needs of viewers, specifically positive, educational content that fosters learning for young children and their families, and programs that inform and inspire audiences 50+ (Objective 1.1).
A strong, sustainable economy	 Championing more B.C. stories and support more storytellers (Goal #3). Creating more B.C. and Canadian stories and strengthen the independent production community through commissioning efforts (Objective 3.1).

Operating Environment

Knowledge Network has identified three primary risks that impacted our public service. The strategies supporting our strategic goals helped mitigate these risks within our operating environment:

1. Multi-platform broadcast rights

• The increase in online streaming and video on demand (VOD) services created more competition for programs and their multi-platform rights, increasing costs and availability of content.

2. Audience behaviour

• Investments in multi-platform delivery continued to be essential as audiences' access content from platforms such as websites, apps and VOD.

3. Revenue generation

• Charitable giving in Canada continued to decline amidst a growing number of charities seeking support.

Report on Performance

Our goals and strategies are based on our Strategic Plan entitled *The Best Is Yet To Come*. This is our first year reporting out on this three-year plan. Investment in original programming, expansion of digital platforms and growth in donors and donations are reflected through our performance measures.

Goals, Objectives, Measures and Targets

Goal 1: Enhance the accessibility and quality of Knowledge Network's television service to maintain its relevance and importance to British Columbians

The rapid proliferation of new devices and web channels is changing the way television is watched. Regularly scheduled TV programming, however, continues to garner the majority of viewing, especially for older audiences. Knowledge Network's scheduled television service – delivered on cable, satellite, web and mobile apps – is the popular and vital foundation on which our growth is built.

Objective 1.1: Strengthen programming to meet the diverse needs of viewers, specifically positive, educational content that fosters learning for young children and their families, and programs that inform and inspire audiences 50+

Key Highlights:

- Premiered four Knowledge original documentaries:
 - 1. *Shut Up and Say Something* acclaimed B.C. Indigenous spoken word artist Shane Koyczan embarks to reconnect with the father he never knew.
 - 2. Looking at Edward Curtis explores the Pacific Northwestern work of photographer Edward Curtis from an Indigenous perspective.
 - 3. *Living In HOpe* follows patients and health care providers at the HOpe Centre in North Vancouver as they work together on a bold, human approach to mental health.
 - 4. *This Mountain Life* takes viewers high in the snowy peaks of B.C. with a mother and daughter who embark on a six-month trek through the treacherous Coast Mountains.
- Offered programming to meet the diverse needs of viewers, specifically positive, educational content that fosters learning for young children and their families, as well as programming that informs and inspires seniors.
- Continued to strengthen the primetime schedule with high quality arts, culture, social issue, history and natural history documentaries, performing arts and drama from B.C., Canada and the world. Highlights include *The Asian Century*, an eight-part series examining the major political events and the leading figures behind them in both China and India.
- Invested in programming that promotes literacy and numeracy for young children.
- Expanded *Storyville* timeslot from two hours to three to increase the number of feature documentaries and create more space for B.C. and Canadian storytellers.

Performance Measures		2016/17 Actuals	2017/18 Actuals	2018/19 Target	2018/19 Actuals	2019/20 Target	2020/21 Target
Total 1.1a Reach ¹ (People)	Knowledge Primetime/Overnight	N/A ²	2,913,000	3,000,000	3,018,000	3,000,000	3,000,000
		Reach ¹	N/A ²	2,191,000	2,000,000	2,173,000	2,000,000

Data Source: Numeris Canada

Discussion

Knowledge Network exceeded targets for all performance measures, reflecting the relevance of programming with audiences on television and streaming services. The performance measure for Total Reach was revised starting in 2017/18 to include B.C. markets outside of the Lower Mainland and Vancouver Island. In past years, this data was not included in the Western Prairie Balance Market numbers, as it was not balanced and fully weighted by Numeris (formerly Bureau of Broadcast Measurement). Numeris recently made changes to their panels which enabled us to include these markets in our reports. We can now reflect viewership across B.C., including overnight data which is part of the Primetime audience data.

Goal 2: Improve the audience experience for video on demand by increasing the number of available programs and through the development of next generation apps and platforms

As new devices and operating systems proliferate, Knowledge Network is working to ensure that our programming service is available on any platforms adopted by our audiences. We are also committed to a high-quality experience on all platforms.

Objective 2.1: Our public service is available on any platforms our audiences use and the experience is high quality

Key Highlights:

- Launched the next generation streaming service at Knowledge.ca
- Expanded the number of curated collections and individual programs for video on demand, with an emphasis on arts and culture documentaries.
- Built a new generation Knowledge IOS app that is AirPlay and Chrome-cast enabled for mobile devices, and the first generation Knowledge Apple TV App for Apple devices, based on the new Knowledge website technology.
- Developed and launched first generation Knowledge Kids apps in partnership with Samsung Canada for its Smart TV app store for 2016, 2017 and 2018 Samsung models. Knowledge App for Apple and Android devices will be completed in fiscal 2019/20.

¹ Unduplicated number (number of people exposed) of those viewing at least one minute of programming in the Vancouver Extended Market and Western Prairie Balance Market for Knowledge Primetime/Overnight (viewers 2+, 6pm to 4am) and Knowledge Kids (viewers 2+, 6am to 6pm, M-F; 6am to 12pm, Sat-Sun).

² In the 2017/18 Annual Report, Total Reach was adjusted to include B.C. markets outside of the Lower Mainland and Vancouver Island, as well as overnight data. Fiscal 2016/17 Actual data with these adjustments is not available.

Performance Measures		2016/17 Baseline	2017/18 Actuals	2018/19 Target	2018/19 Actual	2019/20 Target	2020/21 Target	
2.1a	Total Subscribers ¹	Knowledge.ca and Knowledge App	24,593	33,381	51,700	77,714	95,000	105,000
Total App		Knowledge Apps	9,967	13,751	17,100	20,784	20,000	21,000
2.1b Downloads ²	Knowledge Kids Go Apps	56,005	73,756	92,100	96,143	105,000	115,000	
		Knowledge.ca and Knowledge Apps	1,133,912	1,124,496	1,160,000	1,355,764	1,396,436	1,438,330
Videos 2.1c Played ³	KnowledgeKids.ca and Knowledge Kids Apps	10,211,432	8,356,841	10,310,000	6,674,551	8,550,000	8,600,000	

Data Sources:

Discussion

Knowledge Network met 4 of 5 targets for performance measures related to our streaming services. Increased competition combined with changes to video player technology on the Knowledge Kids Go App led to a decrease in videos played. In 2018/19, we launched continued expansion of our digital product line by launching the second generation Knowledge IOS App which is AirPlay and Chromecast enabled for phones and tablets, and the first generation Knowledge Apple TV App. We also launched first generation Knowledge Kids Samsung TV Apps for 2016, 2017 and 2018 Samsung models.

Future targets for performance measures have been adjusted based on actuals and align with what was last presented in the 2019/20 – 2021/22 Service Plan. Future targets for Total App Downloads – Knowledge Kids Go Apps and Videos Played – Knowledge.ca and Knowledge Apps performance measures have been increased compared to what was last presented in the 2019/20 – 2021/22 Service Plan.

Goal 3: Champion more B.C. stories and support more storytellers

Knowledge Network's investment in documentaries and children's programs produced by independent filmmakers leverage funding from federal and provincial, public and private sources. Increased investment in independent productions will support the creation of more B.C. stories and help develop skills within the community.

¹ Knowledge.ca website database. Tracks total users who complete registration for a Knowledge account (cumulative).

² Google Play Console (Android), iTunes Connect (Apple) and Samsung Smart TV Analytics. Tracks lifetime downloads (cumulative) for each fiscal year.

³ Google Analytics. Tracks total videos played across web and mobile platforms in a fiscal year.

Objective 3.1: Create more B.C. and Canadian stories and strengthen the independent production community through commissioning efforts

Key Highlights:

- Supported early learning for B.C.'s youngest viewers through the development and production of *The Festival of Wishes*, an original animation series featuring Knowledge Kids' proprietary characters, Luna, Chip and Inkie.
- Invested in feature documentaries, shorts and series in partnership with B.C.'s independent production sector.
- Developed and commissioned more B.C. Indigenous stories told by Indigenous storytellers.
- Encouraged skills development and mentorship of emerging B.C. filmmakers in partnership with Creative BC and other federal and provincial organizations.
- Initiated the commissioning process for the B.C. Documentary History Project, including the four-part history series and short films from independent B.C. filmmakers, including Indigenous filmmakers.

Perfo	rmance Measures	2016/17 Actuals	2017/18 Actuals	2018/19 Target	2018/19 Actuals	2019/20 Target	2020/21 Target
3.1a	Direct Investment in Multi-Platform Content ¹	\$1,626,688	\$2,372,241	\$1,800,000	\$2,268,966	\$2,200,000	\$2,200,000
3.1b	Indirect Investment in Multi-Platform Content (CMF envelope, other CMF funding, Independent production funds, tax credits) ²	\$16,582,835	\$6,733,573	\$11,000,000	\$20,218,767	\$14,000,000	\$12,000,000
3.1c	B.C. Independent Production Budgets Supported by Knowledge Network ³	\$4,332,862	\$6,019,266	\$5,000,000	\$25,176,476	\$7,000,000	\$7,000,000

Data Sources:

¹ Letters of Intent, short-form commission/lead agreement, or long form commission/lead agreement entered into with independent producers in a fiscal year. Knowledge Network directs funds from its budget for original content rights. This measure includes Knowledge Network investment in television and online original content for both children and adults. Targets may be adjusted due to the non-cyclical nature of content production in future reports.

² Financing plans for projects where Knowledge Network has issued a Letter of Intent, short-form commission/lead agreement, or long form commission/lead agreement in a fiscal year. As a licensed broadcaster, Knowledge Network can help B.C. independent producers trigger funding for B.C. independent productions from third-party funding sources. Includes certified Canadian independent production funds, the Canada Media Fund (CMF), and federal and provincial tax credits. Based on Knowledge Network's investment, funding is generated from independent production funds towards B.C. and Canadian projects.

³ Project budgets submitted by independent producers where Knowledge Network has issued Letters of Intent, short-form commission/lead agreements, or long form commission/lead agreements. It represents all contributions to independent production budgets, including those committed by Knowledge Network in a fiscal year (includes certified Canadian independent production funds, the Canada Media Fund, and federal and provincial tax credits).

Discussion

Knowledge Network made direct investments in 22 original multi-platform projects in 2018/19. This included seven projects that Knowledge Network either commissioned or is the lead broadcaster. Highlights include *The Festival of Wishes*, our first original animation pilot featuring Knowledge Kids' proprietary characters, Luna, Chip and Inkie. The pilot went into production with Vancouver's Mainframe Studios.

The significant increases in performance measures 3.1b and 3.1c include the budgets for two Canadian, animated children's co-productions supported by Knowledge Network. Projects of this scale are not the norm; targets for this measure will vary based on the non-cyclical nature of content production.

Future targets for performance measures have been adjusted based on actuals and align with what was last presented in the 2019/20 - 2021/22 Service Plan.

Goal 4: Connect with more viewers to enlarge the donor base and grow the Endowment Fund

Knowledge Network's current donor base is both loyal and generous. It is, however, vital to our long-term sustainability that we continue to attract new donors, as well as increase donations and long-term support through legacy giving in the Knowledge Endowment Fund.

Objective 4.1: Attract new donors to offset attrition and to increase donations and long-term support for B.C.'s public broadcaster

Key Highlights:

- Increased new donors by 20 per cent.
- Utilized the capabilities of the newly launched Knowledge.ca website to cultivate viewers and convert them to donors.
- Hosted an estate planning seminar for Knowledge Partners.

Perfo	ormance Measures	2016/17 Actuals	2017/18 Actuals	2018/19 Target	2018/19 Actual	2019/20 Target	2020/21 Target
4.1a	Knowledge Partner Donations ¹	\$4,292,887	\$4,530,238	\$4,300,000	\$4,831,352	\$4,794,000	\$4,800,000
4.1b	Legacy Circle Donors ²	585	675	700	825	850	900

Data Sources: Blackbaud donor database.

¹ Tracks total Knowledge Partner donations received each year.

² Tracks total number of individuals who have notified us that they have left a gift to Knowledge Network in their will each fiscal year (cumulative).

Discussion

The Knowledge Partners Annual Fund donations exceeded expectations reaching over \$4.8 million dollars. This is an increase of 6.6 per cent over last year. Our overall donor base (counted as households) increased by 2.3 per cent, representing approximately 40,000 individual donors. This can be attributed to a very successful contest to win a trip for two to England in fall of 2018.

New donors increased by 20 per cent over 2017/18. This is significant, as Blackbaud Index Canada notes a 3.6 per cent decrease in overall charitable giving as of February 2019.

The number of Legacy Circle donors continues to grow. Knowledge Network hosted an estate planning seminar in February 2019 to help drive legacy prospects to the Knowledge Endowment Fund. In 2018/19, the Knowledge Endowment Fund received \$1.309 million in contributions.

Knowledge Network recently underwent an in-depth process to achieve accreditation in Imagine Canada's Standards Program, awarded to charities and non-profit organizations that demonstrate excellence in board governance, financial accountability, staff management and volunteer involvement. Imagine Canada accreditation will strengthen our visibility among potential new donors as a trusted charity in Canada.

Future targets for both performance measures have been increased compared to what was last presented in the 2019/20 - 2021/22 Service Plan.

Financial Report

Discussion of Results

Knowledge Network Corporation ended the fiscal year with an annual surplus of \$1.837 million, of which \$1.309 million pertains to Endowment contributions and \$233,000 in net investment income, which are held in trust and not treated as operating revenue. This year's operating surplus of \$295,000 represents 2.3 per cent of our overall operating budget.

2018/2019 Consolidated Surplus

	Actual	
	<u>(\$000)</u>	
Total Consolidated Revenue	\$12,694	100.0%
		_
Amounts included in operating surplus:		
Endowment contributions to be invested	\$1,309	10.3%
Endowment net income after management fees (to be reinvested)	\$233	1.8%
Actual operating surplus (or deficit)	\$295	2.3%
Total Annual Surplus on Financial Statements	\$1,837	14.5%

Highlights

Resource Summary

(D 1 1000)	2017/18 Actual	$\frac{2018/19}{Budget^1}$	2018/19 Actual	2018/19 Budget Variance
(Reported in '000) Provincial Operating Grant ²	6,558	6 ,851	6,612	(239)
Donations and Sponsorships	4,513	4,325	4,845	520
Revenue from Subsidiary Operations	908	517	520	3
Amortization of Deferred Contributions	328	320	301	(19)
Endowment Investment and Other Revenue ³	607	430	417	(13)
Total Revenues	12,914	12,443	12,695	252
Programming and Presentation	2,110	2,127	2,101	(26)
Marketing and Development	2,352	2,222	2,249	27
Broadcast Platforms and Corporate IT	1,964	2,056	2,060	4
General	504	417	368	(49)
Amortization of Broadcast Rights	3,077	3,511	3,334	(177)
Administration	1,292	1,443	1,327	(116)
Subsidiary Operations	1,108	613	728	115
Total Expenses	12,407	12,389	12,167	(222)
Annual Surplus from Operations	507	54	528	474
Endowment Contributions ⁴	1,775	800	1,309	509
Annual Surplus	2,283	854	1,837	983
Capital Expenditures	4,369	4,000	4,828	828
Total Liabilities	2,794	2,851	2,206	
Accumulated Surplus	19,605	19,668	21,442	

¹ 2018/19 budget column matches the 2018/19 Service Plan, but differs from the audited financial statements. The difference is due to a change in the presentation of the deferred BC Documentary History Project grant.

Excludes grant for BC Documentary History Project, allocated over 4 years: 2017/18:\$150,000; 2018/19:\$250,000; 2019/20:\$450,000; 2020/21:\$150,000. Grant has been deferred - refer to note 4b in the Audited Financial Statements.

³ Includes realized investment income.

⁴ Endowment contributions are held in trust and not treated as operating revenue.

Variance and Trend Analysis

Provincial Operating Grant

The operating grant was \$239k less than budget. This difference is due to the deferral of the B.C. Documentary History Project grant of \$250k.

The \$53k variance from the previous year is due to increased funding for the Economic Stability Mandate, from \$98k to 141k.

Donations and Sponsorships

Donations were \$520k more than budget, and \$332k more than last year. We experienced the largest donations ever received in seven of twelve months during the fiscal. Part of this success can be attributed to our *Jolly Olde England* contest.

Subsidiary Operations – Revenue

Subsidiary revenues were \$388k less than the previous year. The revenues represent nine months of operations as the BBC Kids service was discontinued on December 31, 2018 (see Appendix B).

Amortization of Deferred Contributions

During the year, actual deferred contributions amortized were \$19k less than budget and \$27k less than the previous year. The deferred contributions pertain to amounts that are recognized as revenue to offset amortization of externally funded projects.

Endowment Investment and Other Income

These revenues were \$13k less than budget and \$190k less than the previous year. The budget difference is mainly due to income from corporate investments being under budget by \$30k, partially offset by increases in other miscellaneous revenues.

The decrease from the previous year is due to income from our corporate investments \$32k, reduced deferred revenue \$100k and reduced channel management revenues \$30k.

<u>Programming and Presentation</u>

These expenses were \$26k less than budget and \$9k less than the previous year. The budget difference is mainly due to closed-captioning costs less than budget.

Marketing and Development

These expenses were \$27k more than budget and \$103k less than the previous year. The budget variance is due to higher credit card processing fees from increased online donations. The decrease from previous fiscal is due to reduced costs of producing our on-air pledge campaigns.

Broadcast Platforms and Corporate IT

These expenses were \$96k more than the previous year, due to these new positions: Broadcast IT Systems Technologist and Senior Software Engineer.

General

General expenses were \$49k less than budget and \$136k less than the previous year. The majority of the budget variance is due to amortization of capital equipment that was less than budget by \$75k.

The variance from the previous year is mainly due to these items:

Computers, Boardroom tables and chairs purchased previous fiscal	57,732
Amortization of capital equipment less than previous fiscal	30,391
Renovations to lounge and donor recognition walls in previous fiscal	21,067
Total	109.190

Amortization of Broadcast Rights

Amortization expense was \$177k less than budget and \$256k more than the previous year. The budget variance is due to broadcast rights for these program that were anticipated to be delivered by year-end, but will be deferred to 2019/20: Pup Academy; Super Mighty Maker; Blink & Aazoo; Ping & Pong; Hope for Wildlife; Me, Mum & Willy; Haida Modern; Island Diaries; Northern Gold; The Man I Left Behind; Paramedics: Life on the Line; Space Suite 4; Apollo; B.C. History Project Shorts; and 1871.

The increase in costs from the previous year is due to increases from:

Program Acquisitions		164,555
Second Window broadcast rights		39,635
Lead Broadcast rights		84,595
	Total	288,785

Administration

Administration costs were \$116k less than budget and \$34k more than the previous year. The budget variance was due to budget savings in the training fund (\$29k), personnel costs for interns (\$16k) and personnel cost recovery of (\$50k) for subsidiary operations.

Administration costs include:

Corporate training plan	20,780
Building lease and operating costs	265,827
President's Office and Board	400,685
Finance, Human Resources, Other	639,332
Total	1,326,624

Subsidiary Operations

Subsidiary operation expenses were \$115k more than budget and \$380k less than the previous year. The budget variance is a result of \$50k in channel management fees, \$25k in personnel costs, and expensed dividend payment not budgeted. The reduction in expenses from last year is a result of operating for nine months instead of twelve.

Endowment Contributions

Endowment contributions received were \$509k more than budget and \$466k less than the previous year. Due to the confidential nature of major gifts, it is difficult to predict when endowment contributions will be received.

Capital Expenditures

Capital asset purchases were \$828k more than budget and \$458k more than the previous year. The budget variance is primarily due to our commissions and acquisitions:

	Budget	Actual	Variance
Paramedics: Life on the Line	500,000	640,625	140,625
BC Documentary History Project: People, Places, Things			
(shorts) and 1871 ⁵	-	359,502	359,502
Space Suite 4 & Apollo	-	30,750	30,750
Acquisitions: Dramas	460,000	573,613	113,613
Acquisitions: Childrens' Programs	550,000	644,035	94,035
Total	1,510,000	2,248,525	738,525

The variance from the previous year is due to new programs commissioned or acquired this year:

Luna, Chip & Inkie in The Festival of Wishes		337,796
Increase in Lead Broadcast rights		84,595
Increase in Second Window Broadcast rights		39,635
	Total	462,026

Risks and Uncertainties

One of the key risks in our operating environment is revenue generation. Knowledge Network has experienced an upward trend in charitable donations, even as charitable giving in Canada continues to decline amidst a growing number of charities seeking support. Combined with changing demographics and viewing habits, donations to Knowledge Network could plateau within the foreseeable future.

On-demand streaming services are becoming more numerous and popular with audiences. We are continuing to build out our digital product line with additional content and viewing incentives, and will be expanding online fundraising efforts.

BBC Kids, our Canadian children's subscription channel, was a successful revenue generating initiative. Although overall revenues far exceeded expectations, a number of significant factors led to a decline in profitability of BBC Kids in recent years. Specifically, significant changes in the operating and regulatory environment for BBC Kids. Regulatory changes placed independent specialty services at a disadvantage resulting in less favourable pricing for the channel. As a result, the BBC Kids channel was closed in December 2018. Knowledge Network will receive a final dividend payment in 2019/20. We continue to look for new opportunities to generate additional revenue to support our public service.

⁵ The final production budget for the BC Documentary History Project was confirmed in spring 2019 after the producers completed the development phase.

Auditor's Report & Audited Financial Statements

Consolidated Financial Statements of

KNOWLEDGE NETWORK CORPORATION

Year ended March 31, 2019



KPMG LLP Metro Tower I 4710 Kingsway, Suite 2401 Burnaby BC V5H 4M2 Canada Telephone (604) 527-3600 Fax (604) 527-3636

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors of the Knowledge Network Corporation
To the Minister of Tourism. Arts. and Culture

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Knowledge Network Corporation (the "Entity"), which comprise:

- the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2019
- the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended
- the consolidated statement of remeasurement gains for the year then ended
- the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended
- the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
- and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

(hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2019 of the Entity are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our auditors' report.

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative ("KPMG International"), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.



Knowledge Network Corporation Page 2

Emphasis of Matter - Financial Reporting Framework

We draw attention to note 2 to the financial statements which describes the applicable financial reporting framework and the significant differences between that financial reporting framework and Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Knowledge Network Corporation Page 3

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
 procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
 expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
 planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
 significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
 entities or business activities within the Entity to express an opinion on the financial
 statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
 audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Burnaby, Canada May 17, 2019

KPMG LLP

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

	2019		2018
Financial assets:			
Cash (note 3(a))	\$ 1,406,864	\$	804.916
Accounts receivable	111,313	Ψ	260,093
Income taxes recoverable	28,709		18,286
Portfolio investments (note 3(b))	732,705		2,124,397
	2,279,591		3,207,692
Liabilities:			
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	439,450		990,806
Deferred revenue, projects	324,616		310,042
Deferred contributions (note 4)	1,442,298		1,493,132
	2,206,364		2,793,980
Net financial assets	73,227		413,712
Non-financial assets:			
Broadcast rights (note 5)	10,439,177		9,487,597
Tangible capital assets (note 6)	1,945,886		2,167,156
Prepaid expenses	55,944		51,056
Endowment investments (note 3(b))	9,339,435		7,719,904
	21,780,442		19,425,713
Accumulated surplus (note 12)	\$ 21,853,669	\$	19,839,425
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		· · ·
Accumulated surplus is comprised of:			
Accumulated surplus	\$ 21,442,023	\$	19,604,940
Accumulated remeasurement gains	411,646		234,485
	\$ 21,853,669	\$	19,839,425

Commitments (note 8)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board:

Maurine Karagianis Chair of the Board

Chair of the Audit and Finance Committee

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

	Budget 201		2019	2018
	(note 13)			
Revenue:				
Province of British Columbia operating grants	\$ 6,601,000	\$	6,611,531	\$ 6,558,429
Donations and sponsorships	4,325,000		4,844,902	4,513,024
Specialty TV channel subscription fees Amortization of deferred contributions	509,997		519,700	907,898
(note 4)	320,000		300,834	328,287
Endowment investment income	200,000		285,746	240,415
Other	80,000		131,383	366,930
	12,035,997		12,694,096	12,914,983
Evnences (note 14):				
Expenses (note 14): Programming and presentation	2,058,204		2,101,390	2,110,132
Marketing and development	2,291,447		2,101,530	2,351,897
Broadcast platforms and corporate IT	2,055,621		2,059,841	1,963,829
General	460,000		368,221	503,937
Amortization of broadcast rights	3,510,892		3,333,943	3,077,480
Administration	1,399,836		1,326,624	1,292,456
Specialty TV channel	613,056		727,629	1,107,760
	12,389,056		12,166,157	12,407,491
Annual surplus (deficit) from operations	(353,059)		527,939	507,492
Endowment contributions received	800,000		1,309,144	1,775,249
Annual surplus	446,941		1,837,083	2,282,741
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year	19,604,940		19,604,940	17,322,199
Accumulated surplus, end of year	\$ 20,051,881	\$	21,442,023	\$ 19,604,940

Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains

Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

	2019	2018
Accumulated remeasurement gains, beginning of year	\$ 234,485	\$ 115,239
Remeasurement gains attributable to investments Amounts reclassified to statement of operations:	176,971	119,340
Realized loss (gain) on investment	190	(94)
Net remeasurement gains for the year	177,161	119,246
Accumulated remeasurement gains, end of year	\$ 411,646	\$ 234,485

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

	Budget 2019			2018	
	(note 13)				
Annual surplus	\$ 446,941	\$, ,	\$	2,282,741
Net remeasurement gains for the year			177,161		119,246
	446,941		2,014,244		2,401,987
Acquisition of tangible capital asset	-		(83,192)		(344,732)
Amortization of tangible capital assets	380,000		304,462		335,893
	380,000		221,270		(8,839)
Acquisition of broadcast rights	(4,159,813)		(4,744,447)		(4,024,454)
Amortization of broadcast rights	3,986,571		3,792,867		3,775,207
	(173,242)		(951,580)		(249,247)
Acquisition of endowment investments	(400,000)		(1,619,531)		(2,199,521)
Acquisition of prepaid expenses	-		(55,944)		(51,056)
Use of prepaid expenses	-		51,056		56,969
	-		(4,888)		5,913
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets	253,699		(340,485)		(49,707)
Net financial assets, beginning of year	413,712		413,712		463,419
Net financial assets, end of year	\$ 667,411	\$	73,227	\$	413,712

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

	2019	2018
Cash provided (used by):		
Operations:		
Annual surplus	\$ 1,837,083	\$ 2,282,741
Items not involving cash:	190	(0.4)
Loss (gain) on sale of investments Amortization of deferred contributions	(300,834)	(94) (328,287)
Amortization of tangible capital assets	304,462	335,893
Amortization of broadcast rights	3,792,867	3,775,207
Changes in non-cash working capital:	, ,	, ,
Accounts receivable	148,780	(51,258)
Income taxes recoverable	(10,423)	(106,824)
Prepaid expenses	(4,888)	5,913
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Deferred revenue, projects	(551,356) 14,574	81,371
Derented revenue, projects	5,230,455	(10,314) 5,984,348
	5,230,455	5,964,546
Financing:		
Contributions received for broadcast rights	250,000	150,000
Investina:		
Purchase of investments, net (note 3(b))	(50,868)	(2,098,287)
, (, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	(, ,	(, , , ,
Capital:		
Acquisition of tangible capital assets	(83,192)	(344,732)
Acquisition of broadcast rights	(4,744,447)	(4,024,454)
	(4,827,639)	(4,369,186)
Increase (decrease) in each	604.040	(222.405)
Increase (decrease) in cash	601,948	(333,125)
Cash, beginning of year	804,916	1,138,041
Cash, end of year	\$ 1,406,864	\$ 804,916

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended March 31, 2019

1. Nature of operations:

Knowledge Network Corporation (the "Corporation") was incorporated as a Crown corporation in 2009 under the *Knowledge Network Corporation Act*, a statute of the Province of British Columbia.

The Corporation is British Columbia's public broadcaster across multiple platforms including television, web, and mobile. The principal source of funding is from the Ministry of Tourism, Arts and Culture

The Corporation continues to be a registered charity under the provisions of the Income Tax Act of Canada and is not subject to income taxes. The Corporation's 50% owned subsidiary, Knowledge-West Communications Corporation ("KWCC") is subject to income taxes. On December 31, 2018, KWCC ceased operations and therefore will no longer be earning specialty TV channel subscription fees.

2. Significant accounting policies:

(a) Basis of accounting:

These consolidated financial statements are prepared by management in accordance with Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. This Section requires that the consolidated financial statements be prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards established by the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants Canada, except in regard to the accounting for broadcast rights and government transfers.

The Corporation has obtained approval to continue to capitalize and amortize broadcast rights as non-financial assets. Canadian public sector accounting standards do not recognize the intangible assets in their accounting framework and require that such amounts be expensed as incurred.

The Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and its related regulations require the Corporation to account for government transfers for capital assets by deferring and amortizing them to income on the same basis as the related amortization expense. As these transfers do not contain stipulations that create a liability, Canadian public sector accounting standards would require these grants to be reported in income.

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and accumulated surplus of the reporting entity, which includes proportionate consolidation of the Corporation's 50% owned subsidiary KWCC. Inter-entity balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

(b) Revenue recognition:

Externally restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonable estimated and collection is reasonable assured.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(b) Revenue recognition (continued):

Subscription fees are recognized in the period in which the transactions occurred that gave rise to the revenues. All revenues are recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals cannot be determined with a reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is impractical. Interest and other revenues are recognized when earned.

(c) Tangible capital assets:

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost. Equipment, furniture and fixtures are amortized over the estimated useful life on the declining balance basis at 10% to 30% per annum, computer software are amortized over the estimated useful life on the declining balance basis at 50%, and leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight line basis at the lesser of estimated useful life and the term of the lease.

(d) Deferred contributions for capital assets and broadcast rights:

Funding received from the Province of British Columbia used for the acquisition of tangible capital assets and broadcast rights is recorded as deferred contributions and is recognized as a recovery in the Statement of Operations equal to the amortization charged on the assets purchased with the funding. This accounting treatment is not consistent with the requirements of Canadian public sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be recognized as revenue when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met, unless the transfer contains a stipulation that creates a liability, in which case the transfer is recognized as revenue over the period that the liability is extinguished.

(e) Broadcast rights:

Broadcast rights are recorded at cost and amortized over the period the broadcast is authorized for (generally 4 to 6 years).

(f) Financial instruments:

Derivatives and equity instruments quoted in an active market are measured at fair value. The Corporation measures other specific financial instruments at cost or amortized cost to correspond with how they are evaluated and managed.

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified as level one, two, or three for the purposes of describing the basis of the inputs used to measure the fair values, as described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Market-based inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(f) Financial instruments (continued):

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data; assumptions are based on the best internal and external information available and are most suitable and appropriate based on the type of financial instrument being valued in order to establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement date in an arm's length transaction.

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are recorded in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the statement of operations.

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, amortized cost is defined as the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus cumulative amortization using the effective interest method and minus any impairment losses. The effective interest rate method is used to determine interest revenue or expense.

For portfolio investments measured at cost, the cost method records the initial investment at cost and earnings from such investments are recognized only to the extent received or receivable. When an investment is written down to recognize an impairment loss, the new carrying value is deemed to be the new cost basis for subsequent accounting purposes.

Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are reported in the statement of operations.

Financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment losses are recorded in the statement of operations and any related fair value changes previously recorded in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses are reversed to the extent of the impairment. Impairment losses are not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.

Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments measured using cost or amortized cost.

Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value.

The Corporation has designated its financial instruments as follows:

(i) Cash:

Cash includes cash in the bank and is measured at fair value.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

- (f) Financial instruments (continued):
 - (ii) Short-term investments:

Short-term investments are accounted for as portfolio investments. Investments quoted in an active market are reported at fair value and other investments are recorded at cost or amortized cost. These investments are highly liquid and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments. Investments reported at fair value recognize any changes in fair value in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses.

(iii) Market securities:

Equity and debt investments quoted in an active market are reported at fair value. The Corporation has a diversified securities portfolio that includes short-term deposits, bonds, and equities. Market securities are accounted for as portfolio investments and are reported at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses.

(iv) Other financial assets and financial liabilities:

Other assets and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

(g) Measurement uncertainty:

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the framework described in note 2(a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year then ended. Significant areas of management estimate include the determination of tangible capital assets and broadcast rights and the related recognition of deferred contributions, valuation of accounts receivable, and provision for contingencies. Actual results could differ from those reported.

(h) Foreign currency translation:

Monetary assets and liabilities included in the fair value measurement category denominated in foreign currencies, are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the financial statement date. Unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. In the period of settlement, realized foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in the statement of operations, and the cumulative amount of remeasurement gains and losses is reversed in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(i) Income taxes:

KWCC uses the taxes payable method to account for income taxes whereby the expense (income) of the period consists only of the cost (benefit) of current income taxes for that period, determined in accordance with the rules established by the taxation authorities. For the year ended March 31, 2019, an income tax expense of \$12,993 (2018 - \$70,934) has been included in Specialty TV channel expenses in the Statement of Operations.

3. Cash and investments:

(a) Cash:

The Corporation's bank accounts are held at one Canadian chartered bank. Interest is earned at prime minus 1.95% and is paid on a monthly basis. As of March 31, 2019 the balance in the US dollar account was \$39,971 (2018 - USD \$52,559).

(b) Portfolio and endowment investments:

	2019	2018
Fixed income Common shares Mutual funds Other	\$ 2,638,996 5,174,765 255,627 2,002,752	\$ 2,466,186 5,452,725 1,718,193 207,197
	\$ 10,072,140	\$ 9,844,301

Mutual funds consist of money market funds which are redeemable at any time.

	2019	2018
Portfolio investments Endowment investments	\$ 732,705 9,339,435	\$ 2,124,397 7,719,904
	\$ 10,072,140	\$ 9,844,301

Changes in portfolio investments are comprised of the following:

	2019	2018
Balance, beginning of year Internal transfer to cash Remeasurement gain (loss) Investment income included in other income	\$ 2,124,397 (1,500,000) 18,473 89,835	\$ 2,106,290 (18,398) 36,505
Balance, end of year	\$ 732,705	\$ 2,124,397

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

3. Cash and investments (continued):

(b) Portfolio and endowment investments (continued):

Changes in endowment investments are comprised of the following:

	2019	2018
Balance, beginning of year Endowment contributions received Internal transfer from cash Withdrawals Remeasurement gain Endowment investment income Investment costs included in other income	\$ 7,719,904 1,309,144 - (100,000) 158,688 285,746 (34,047)	\$ 5,520,383 1,775,249 150,000 (100,000) 137,644 240,415 (3,787)
Balance, end of year	\$ 9,339,435	\$ 7,719,904

4. Deferred contributions:

(a) Capital assets:

Deferred contributions related to capital assets represents the unamortized amount of grants received for the purchase of capital assets.

	2019	2018
Balance, beginning of year Less: amounts recognized as revenue	\$ 986,027 (121,548)	\$ 1,134,734 (148,707)
Balance, end of year	\$ 864,479	\$ 986,027

(b) Broadcast rights:

Deferred contributions related to broadcast rights represent the unamortized amount of funds received for the acquisition of programs. Amortization of deferred contributions is recorded as revenue.

	2019	2018
Balance, beginning of year Contributions received Amounts recognized as revenue	\$ 507,105 250,000 (179,286)	\$ 536,685 150,000 (179,580)
Balance, end of year	\$ 577,819	\$ 507,105
	2019	2018
Deferred contributions related to: Capital assets Broadcast rights	\$ 864,479 577,819	\$ 986,027 507,105
	\$ 1,442,298	\$ 1,493,132

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

5. Broadcast rights:

	2019	2018
Cost:		
Opening balance	\$ 18,056,171	\$ 17,846,637
Additions	4,744,447	4,024,454
Expired rights	(1,937,438)	(3,814,920)
	20,863,180	18,056,171
Accumulated amortization:	, ,	, ,
Opening balance	8,568,574	8,608,287
Amortization (i)	3,792,867	3,775,207
Expired rights	(1,937,438)	(3,814,920)
	10,424,003	8,568,574
Net book value	\$ 10,439,177	\$ 9,487,597

(i) Amortization expense for broadcast rights is presented on the Statement of Operations as:

	2019	2018
Amortization of broadcast rights Specialty TV channel expenses	\$ 3,333,943 458,924	\$ 3,077,480 697,727
	\$ 3,792,867	\$ 3,775,207

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

6. Tangible capital assets:

Net book value

			_		_			Broadcast		
		Furniture		Computer		Other		network	Leasehold	
		nd fixtures		equipment			Software		improvements	2019
	ar	ia lixtures		equipment		equipment	Sollware	equipment	improvements	2019
Cost:										
Opening balance	\$	880,545	\$	3,088,589	\$	2,396,439	\$ 438,229	\$ 14,267,087	\$ 37,695	\$ 21,108,584
Additions		· -		47,537		-		35,655	-	83,192
Closing balance		880,545		3,136,126		2,396,439	438,229	14,302,742	37,695	21,191,776
Accumulated amortization:										
Opening balance		809,435		2,868,387		2,380,379	427,309	12,418,223	37,695	18,941,428
Amortization		7,111		48,794		2,409	5,460	240,688	-	304,462
Closing balance		816,546		2,917,181		2,382,788	432,769	12,658,911	37,695	19,245,890
Net book value	\$	63,999	\$	218,945	\$	13,651	\$ 5,460	\$ 1,643,831	\$ -	\$ 1,945,886
		Furniture		Computer		Other		Broadcast network	Leasehold	
	aı	nd fixtures		equipment		equipment	Software	equipment	improvements	2018
Cost:										
Opening balance Additions	\$	880,545	\$	3,051,757 36.832	\$	2,396,439	\$ 438,229	\$ 13,959,187 307,900	\$ 37,695	\$ 20,763,852 344,732
Closing balance		880,545		3,088,589		2,396,439	438,229	14,267,087	37,695	21,108,584
Accumulated amortization:										
		801.532		2,817,941		2,368,016	416,390	12,169,683	31,973	18,605,535
Opening balance										
Opening balance Amortization		7,903		50,446		12,363	10,919	248,540	5,722	335,893

220,202 \$

16,060 \$

10,920 \$ 1,848,864 \$

- \$ 2,167,156

71,110 \$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

7. Credit facility:

The Corporation has a revolving demand credit facility bearing interest a prime plus 0.50% per annum. The available facility is to a maximum of \$1,000,000 (2018 - \$500,000). As at March 31, 2019, no amount was drawn on this credit facility (2018 - nil).

8. Commitments:

(a) Satellite transmission service:

The Corporation acquires satellite transmission services at an annual cost of approximately \$204,000 (2018 - \$411,000) under agreements covering a four year period ending August 31, 2021.

(b) Production costs

The Corporation acquires programs which require the commitment of funds. As at March 31, 2019, the Corporation is committed to pay \$2,652,346 (2018 - \$2,641,751) for license fees over the period April 2019 to March 2021.

9. Related party transactions:

The Corporation is related through common ownership to all Province of British Columbia ministries, agencies, school districts, health authorities, colleges, universities, and Crown corporations. Transactions with these entities, considered to be in the normal course of operations, are recorded at the exchange amount.

In the normal course of operations, the Corporations pays rent to BCIT, a Provincially controlled post-secondary institution, of \$1 per annum and its share of the building operating costs totaling \$265,827 (2018 - \$315,312).

Included in accounts receivable is \$5,181 (2018 - \$133,504) related to advances receivable from KWCC.

10. Pensions:

The Corporation and its employees contribute to the College Pension Plan and Municipal Pension Plan, jointly trusteed pension plans. The boards of trustees for these plans represent plan members and employers and are responsible for the management of the pension plan, including investment of the assets and administration of benefits. The pension plans are multi-employer defined benefit pension plans. Basic pension benefits provided are based on a formula. As at August 31, 2018, the College Pension Plan has about 14,000 active members and approximately 8,000 retired members. As at December 31, 2017, the Municipal Pension Plan has approximately 197,000 active members, including approximately 6,000 from colleges and other participating employers.

Active College Pension Plan members include 23 contributors and active Municipal Pension Plan members include 33 contributors from the Corporation.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

10. Pensions (continued):

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plans and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plans. The actuary's calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plans. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent actuarial valuation for the College Pension Plan as at August 31, 2015 indicated a \$67 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2015 indicated a \$2,224 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. As a result of the 2015 basic account actuarial valuation surplus and pursuant to the joint trustee agreement, \$1,927 million was transferred to the rate stabilization account and \$297 million of the surplus ensured the required contribution rates remained unchanged.

The next valuation for the College Pension Plan occurred August 31, 2018, with results available in 2019. The next valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan occurred December 31, 2018, with results available in 2019.

Employers participating in the plans record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plans record accrued liabilities and accrued assets for each plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the plans.

The Corporation paid \$362,131 (2018 - \$366,303) for employer contributions while employees contributed \$336,458 (2018 - \$329,036) to the Plans in fiscal 2019.

11. Financial instruments risks:

The Corporation, through its financial assets and liabilities, is exposed to various risks. The following analysis provides a measurement of those risks at March 31, 2019.

(a) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk that the Corporation will incur a loss due to the failure by its debtors to meet their contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to credit risk consist primarily of portfolio investments, endowment investments and accounts receivable. The Corporation has an investment policy to ensure investments are managed appropriately to secure the preservation of capital and the availability of liquid funds. The Corporation has also retained an investment firm to invest surplus funds in accordance with its investment policy. The receivables are due from various entities and individuals, thus the Corporation is not subject to concentration of credit risk.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

11. Financial instruments risks (continued):

(b) Foreign exchange risk:

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Corporation's exposure to foreign exchange risk is limited to cash held in US dollar bank accounts (note 3(a)).

(c) Interest rate risk:

Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Portfolio and endowment investments bear some interest risk as the market price of fixed income securities may fluctuate based on changes in interest rates (note 3(b)).

(d) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that the value of an investment will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment, or factors affecting all securities traded in the market (note 3(b)). The Corporation is exposed to fair value risks on its portfolio and endowment investments in equity instruments.

(e) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. The Corporation maintains adequate levels of working capital to ensure all its obligations can be met when they fall due.

12. Accumulated surplus:

Accumulated surplus is comprised of the following:

	2019	2018
Invested in tangible capital assets Invested in broadcast rights Endowment funds Unrestricted amounts	\$ 1,081,407 9,861,358 9,339,435 1,571,469	\$ 1,181,129 8,980,492 7,719,904 1,957,900
Balance, end of year	\$ 21,853,669	\$ 19,839,425

13. Budget figures:

Consolidated budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the estimates approved by the Board of Directors on February 22, 2018.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2019

14. Expenses presentation:

For reporting purposes, the Corporation's activities have been aggregated into operational categories. The schedule of consolidated expenses by object reports the revenues and expenses that are directly attributable to each operational category. The revenues and expenses that cannot be directly attributable to allocated on a reasonable basis to individual categories are reported in the General category. The following describes the activities of each area:

Programming and presentation

This category includes salaries and benefits costs of staff responsible for the acquisition of broadcast rights, management and design of broadcast content including branding, captioning of programs, and management of broadcast traffic. This category also includes the cost of contracted editors hired to create promotional content.

Marketing and development

This category includes salaries and benefits costs of staff responsible for administering our Partners' donations and Knowledge Endowment Fund. This includes other operating costs related to the servicing of our donors such as the production and distribution of the K: Magazine.

This category also includes salaries and benefits costs of staff responsible for maintaining government reporting requirements, reporting on audience and viewership results, and implementing our marketing plans.

Broadcast platforms and corporate IT

This category includes salaries and benefits costs of staff responsible for the maintenance and administration of the broadcast platforms and corporate information technology infrastructures. This category also includes operating costs related to the distribution of our broadcast signal to our audiences.

General

This category includes amortization of capital assets and other expenses

Amortization of broadcast rights

This category includes the amortization of broadcast rights over the authorized period of the broadcast right.

Administration

This category includes salaries and benefits costs of staff responsible for overall administration, finance, and human resources. Operating costs also include the Corporation's share of leased facilities costs, and the costs of training and professional development of our staff.

Specialty TV channel

This category represents the operations of the BBC Kids tier 2 digital specialty channel via KWCC. BBC Kids was available to Canadian cable and Internet TV subscribers up to December 31, 2018.

Schedule of consolidated expenses by object

Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

	rogramming and presentation	dı	Marketing and evelopment	Broadcast latforms and corporate IT	General	Amortization of broadcast rights	Administration	5	Specialty TV channel	2019 consolidated	,	Budget consolidated	2018 consolidated
Salaries and benefits Amortization of capital assets	\$ 1,625,165	\$	950,932	\$ 1,309,424	\$ 8,657	\$ -	\$ 855,174	\$	25,000	\$ 4,774,352	\$	4,803,756	\$ 4,708,492
and broadcast rights	-		-	-	285,502	3,333,943	-		477,885	4,097,330		4,366,571	4,111,100
Purchased services Supplies, shipping, minor	359,602		629,792	171,325	-	-	60,654		67,999	1,289,372		1,229,490	1,435,609
software, maintenance	35,713		484,587	549,181	7,010	-	33,285		77,134	1,186,910		1,196,999	1,251,704
Travel, miscellaneous, other	80,910		174,750	29,911	67,052	-	111,684		66,617	530,924		493,240	514,339
Facilities operating costs, rental	-		8,448	-	-	-	265,827		-	274,275		264,000	315,312
Income taxes	-		-	-	-	-	-		12,994	12,994		35,000	70,935
	\$ 2,101,390	\$	2,248,509	\$ 2,059,841	\$ 368,221	\$ 3,333,943	\$ 1,326,624	\$	727,629	\$ 12,166,157	\$	12,389,056	\$ 12,407,491



Knowledge Endowment

Gifts to the Knowledge Endowment are a lasting legacy that will ensure BC's trusted public broadcaster continues to inform, entertain and educate for years to come, free from commercial advertising. Donations to the Endowment Fund will never be spent. A small percentage of the annual income is used to fund programs that enrich the lives of British Columbians.

Legacy Gifts

Sidney R. and Gladys L. Sharman Endowed Fund • Merla and Alastair Aikman • Ronald and Mary Bacon • Leon Judah Blackmore Foundation • Barri Elizabeth Blix • John Briggs • Susan Calne CM • Shelley and Sandy Cotton • Les and Isabel Cowley • Gordon J. Davies • In Honour of Annette Dunnett • Drs. Sydney and Constance Friedman • Carol A. Gray • The Grayross Foundation, held at Vancouver Foundation • Gordon and Catherine Hercus • Wayne and Leslie Ingram • M.E. Insull • Peter H. Jackson • Merv and Elaine Johnson • Ms. Linda Leslie • Marna J. Leslie • David Letson • Dr. Cortlandt J. G. Mackenzie • Max Endowed Fund • Donald Munro • Samuel Pao-San Ho • Robert S. Peacock • Anne Piternick • John and Page Porter • Margaret Rodgers • Arnold and Eva Marie Samson • Sisters of St. Ann • Catherine (Kitty) Walker • Donald and Megan Watts • Gordon Weese • Terence Wolfe-Milner • Anonymous (11)

Estate Gifts

Louis Adam • Jeanette Louise Andrews • William Lester Armour • Betty Barnes • Elaine Bateman • Doris Marion Beauchamp • John P. Bell • Frederick Bevis • Roger J. Bishop • Wendle P. Bitz • Carl Bjarnason • Christine Anne Browning • Valerie Marie Bunt • Hilde M. Cook • Irene Cooper • Sharon Lesley Cott • D. Elizabeth Cotton • Yolande Irene Courtright • Paul Barry Crawford • Anne Monique Daguet • Ann Dearle • Mrs. Audrey C. Denison • June Yvonne Eldred • Dr. Gerald H. Ewing • Janet M. Ferguson • Steve and Eva Floris Endowed Fund • Robert J. Foley • Ronald Ewen Foster • Helmut Franke • Elspeth Margaret Fraser • Helen B. Garry • Heather Gillis • Lesley Anne Gorman • Jeannette P. Green • Peter Grillo • Kathleen Hamilton • Robert Arthur Hamilton • Joan Mary Hayward • Sidney Maureen Heaney • Katherine J. Heller • Joan Ethelwyn Heriot • Lucienne Hinton • Meryl Deanna Hipperson • Grace Barbara Isobel Hooper • Kathleen M. Hughan • James H. Hummelen • Geraldine Irby • Allison Iris Johnston • James Young Johnstone • Joyce B. Jones • Lance Clayton Jones • Robert Arthur Jones • Jane Kennedy Goudie Kerr • Phillipa J. Kerr • Marjorie Knowler • Cornelia Margaretha Stephania Koster • Irene Kouwenhoven • Stephanie Frances Kwiram • Joan le Nobel • Dennis Loader • Pauline Hilda Longstaff • Margaret Elizabeth MacLean • Michael John MacLean • Margaret Ellen Maltby • Edith Mary Marr • Kathleen R. Massey • Margaret Betty Massey • Stanley Robert Maxwell • Mary Grace McCaffrey • David Wayne McGeachan • Margot Lynn McKenzie • Cameron McLean • Britta McNeill • Maryvonne Elizabeth Micale • Helen Florence Mooney • Marion Morris • Frances Mutch • Gurli Nielsen • Verna Noble • Wanda Nunan • Margaret Jean Paquin • Reginald Peat • Jantje Pemberton • Patricia Ritchie Phillips • Lois Eileen Piiroinen • Jean Frances Prentice • Patricia Rickman • Joseph Riesz • Elfriede Robson • Mr. James Rocks • Margaret Rodgers • James Frederick Roh • Hildegard Ryan • Gilbert Sage • Charlie Sanderson • Iris Elfriede Schmaltz • Gunvantrai Shah • Peter Siebel • Jane Margaret Small • Patricia Margaret Smith • Herbert Sorger • Ian Lindsay-Young Thomson • Walter Tindall • Albert Thomas Ward • Terence Haughton Wilson • Mary Woodsworth • Jan Wolf Wynand

In Memory (\$600+)

Marilyn P. Anfield • Graham Mervyn Baker • Phyllis Ann Merchant-Beavan and Derek William Beavan • Reg and Betty Bickford • Brenda Bond • Hajra Patel Burton • Audrey and Robert Denison • Earl D. Dodson and Suzanne Cates Dodson • Douglas G. Gardner • Dorothy G. Gould • Henry Frank (Hank) Graber • David M. Graham • Kingsford D. Healey • Kitty Heller Memorial Fund, held at Vancouver Foundation • Ralph I. Higgins • A.V. Hoshay • Wanda Justice • Ludwig and Gertrude Klein • Jean Elizabeth Kõdar • Frances Kohn • Timothy John Lee • Tad Letson • William Ron McCauley • Helen E. Mogensen • Bob Morritt • Jennifer Nash • Mrs. Elizabeth Novotny • J.E.D. Pearson • Philip Perceval • George Pilfold • Dr. Reginald H. Roy and Mrs. Ardith J. Roy • Audrey M. Russell • Pauline Summers • Roger M. Tait • John/Jack Thorne • Patricia H. Wagner • Sheila Mary Watson • J. Stanley Wilkinson • Ian Wilson • Patricia Wirick • Mary Frances Elizabeth Wyllie

Future Legacy Gifts

Dr. S. and Suzanne Andre • Dr. Anne Pomeroy Autor • Gary and Valerie Axford • Dee M. Bailin • Claudia Beaven • Tom Bennett and Sheila Borman Anna Bergen
 J. Best
 Janet Bickford
 Jan Bigelow
 Mrs. Dierdree
 P. Blair
 Annabel Bradshaw
 Francois Brassard
 Susan Boutwood
 Gwyneth Bowen • D.G. and C.M. Brocklesby • J. Brown • Margaret E. Brown • Ms. Van M. Buchanan • Marino and Nelda Buttignol • Amethyst Campbell • Nancy Chisholm • Helen and Bent Christiansen • Ruth Chudley • Ms. Hilda Cliffe • Mary Clippingdale • Moira and Terry Connor • Ann Cooper • S.M. Cox • Ivan and Laura Cronsberry • James R. Cruikshank • Belle M. Curd • Ralph A. Currie • Dr. Jim Daems • Esther Darlington • Ed and Dianne Darte • Maggy Davidson • Gloria Davies • Joseph John and Jean-Ann Leslie Debreceni • Alison L. Dempsey • Susan I. Dodd • Veronica Druce • Sam and Liz Dunbar • Neil J. Duncan • Professor R.D. Dunn • Wilson Durward • Doug and Laurene Ebbett • Elaine and Lucien Fortier • Barbara and Shirley Foubister • W.A. Fudge • Mark and Diana Gillis • Mary J. Gillis • Carolyn Granewall • Eric and Christine Greenwood • T.L. Hamilton • S. C. M. Harper and L. H. Ogston • John A. Heady and Cheryl L. Heady • In Memory of Joan and Jim Heron • Valery Hester • Stan and Diana Hirst • Teri M. Hitchen • Judith G. Holmes • Eric Holmes • Trisha House • Helen M. Houston • Jan Howarth • Ms. Jan Huggan • Dr. Stewart and Mrs. Joyce Jackson • Estelle and Michael Jacobson • Joy Sarah Korman and Jasper • Dr. Anthony and Mrs. Kathryn Jenkins • Bonnie Joel • Isabel Johnstone • Mrs. Joan E. Keel • Elizabeth Kennett • Debbi Kill • Shauna and Len Kirkham • Margaret Klesner • L.J. LaRocque • Robert Lemon and Robert Ledingham • Al Cushing and Linda Leon • Mrs. Lillian Lind • Gale Ludvigsen • I. Lynnerup • Donna R. MacFarlane • Betty MacKenzie • Donald and Dorothy MacLeod • Irene Magill • Audrey Male • Leonard Mayea • Jim and Margaret McBride • Eric and Freda E. McDermott • Mr. Don McDowell • Susan McNicoll • Myrna Elizabeth McRae • Valerie Melanson • Anne Mercer • G. Meredith • C. Metcalfe • Elizabeth Metcalfe • Mr. Ian and Mrs. Frances Monro • Paul Moritz • Jean Morris • M.J. Morris • Susan C. Mueller • Robert C. and Margaret Ruth Myers • J. Nayler • Mrs. Joyce Nordwall RD • Elizabeth and Laszlo Novotny • Sue Okuda • Michael Page • Richard and Ruth Percy • M. Diane Perry • Dr. Bruce Pitt-Payne • Patrice Pratt • Mr. and Mrs. William C. Quick • Greg and Winnifred Rehill • Daphne Reid and Russell Karp • Susan M. Richardson • Ann and David Rippon • Stephanie J. Robb • Terry W. Robertson • Donna Robinson • Dave and Irma Rodenhuis • Ada Rose • Audrey M. Russell • Ann Saddlemyer • Anneliese Scholz • E. Scotson • Steve and Karen Sharlow • Peter and Lynn Shepherd • Maureen Sim • Lynne Sinclair • Stanley and Sonja Sinclair • Denis and Joyce Sjerve • Gordon A. Skrepnek and Bernice J. Ramsdin • F. Smith • Seth and Mary Spencer • C. and J. Spibey • Gordon and Daphne Squire • Dorothy Stanwood • Hube and Karen Start • Shannon Steele • June and Mike Stephen • Donald Stevenson • Corrine Taylor • Joy Taylor • Graham and Leona Taylor-Smith • Susan Teather • Louise V. Thompson • Elizabeth Hazlette and Phillip Tidd • In Memory of Anne Tompson • Harry and Shirley Tomsic • Chris and Patricia Treadwell • Monica Turner • Randy Udahl and Margaret Allen • John J. Vanderlee • G. and E. Van der Sman • Iris and Roy van Ryswyk • Odette Venuti • Richard von Kleist • Harry and Patricia Wagner • Jeddy Walsh • John A. Ward • H.A. Washington • Elaine and Alan Webb • Trudi Westermann • Mrs. Sigi White • H. Wilhelm • Leigh Hunt Wilks • Mrs. Joyce Williams • Beryl Wilson • Don G. Wilson • Charles and Dorothy Wood • Eileen Wright • Roger M. Young • Mrs. Marianne Zandron • Anonymous (238)

"Gratitude can transform common days into thanksgivings, turn routine jobs into joy, and change ordinary opportunities into blessings."

- William Arthur Ward

Leadership Circle

Knowledge Partners who donate \$600 or more annually to our programming fund are part of a valued community of leaders. Their support in our Leadership Circle, along with all our Partners, helps us provide intelligent, stimulating and fascinating viewing, and funds programs that keep BC's unique perspective alive.

Visionaries (\$15,000+ Multi-Year Donation)

Buzz Bennett • Godfrey Harald Lynum • Anonymous (1)

Benefactors (\$3,000 - \$4,999+)

Gordon Blue • Patrick A. and Margaret Burns • Mr. H. Les Cowley • Funke-Furber Fund through the Victoria Foundation • Bill and Judy Innes • Carmen Jarvis • Laurie Kelley & Scott Poole through the Hummingbird Foundation • Dorothy May Kelly Fund through the Victoria Foundation • M. Lau • Robert Lemon in Memory of Robert Ledingham • Hugh and Helen Mogensen Fund through the Victoria Foundation • Susan C. Mueller • Dr. Linda Siegel • Anonymous (12)

Patrons (\$1,200 - \$2,999)

Merla and Alastair Aikman • Patrick Anderson, Anne Anderson • Mr. Frank Anfield • D.E. Armstrong • Nini Baird, C.M. • F. John Bartram • Michael and Sirpa Bell • Tom Bennett and Sheila Borman • Karl-Heinz Blank • Jim and Kathryn Bray • David and Leeanna Bulinckx • Rudy and Margie Buttignol • Catherine Campbell-McLean • Dr. Michael J. Cavey • Peter and Elaine Clayden • Tama Copithorne in Memory of Maurice Copithorne • Alison M. Currie • Sue Dier and Jim McDaniel • Jim and Elfriede De Wolf • Margot and Harold Forrest • Jane and Larry Forster • Harold Cragg Foster • Michael and Dana Freeman • W.A. Fudge • Lee Grills in Memory of George Grills • David and Ann Groves • Jean E. Hamilton • Mrs. Joy Hassell • In Memory of Grace Hauser • Tony Hepburn • John & Leni Honsaker Fund at Edmonton Community Foundation • Helen M. Houston • Roff Johannson • Rudolf Kaul • Gwen A. Kievill • Ms. L.M. Leslie • Marna J. Leslie • David M. Letson • Lawrie Mack • Gerry and Dawn Martin • Serge Maurice • Joy McKellar • Valerie Melanson • G. Meredith • Arthur R. Monahan • M.V. Newbury • Wanda and Richard Palmer • Guy and Jeanine Parker • M. Ranoa • Greg and Winn Rehill • Salish Weave Fund through the Victoria Foundation • Steve and Karen Sharlow • Mark and Jane Slater • Ms. G.B. Stevens • Mrs. Lorraine Stewart • Anne and Mitch Taylor • Bruce G. and Margaret Y. Tew • Helen M. Thompson • John and Gilberte Thompson • F. Vargo • Wesley and Joan Wankel • Beverley and Eric Watt • Deryk E.T. Whitehead • Diana Whittall • Mrs. Terry Wilkinson • David Llewelyn Williams • Alisa and Jim Wilson • Dr. Peter Wm. and Rev. Ann E. Wood • Linda J. Yardley • Anonymous (39)

Ambassadors (\$600 - \$1,199)

Paul Ablett • Thomas and Catherine Adair • D. Bruce Allardyce • Nick Arden • June Argyle • Mr. Isao Asano • Mrs. Isobel Assad • Beverley Atkinson • Leonie Bablitz • Joyce M. Bainbridge • Beth Barlow • Suzanne Bastedo and Janie Cawley • Frank Beaudry • Mavis Begg • Lary and Marcia Bell • John Beresford • Peter Binkert • Ken Birdsall • Mary and Gordon Blackwell • W. Blann • Bruce and Lesley Bohm • J. Bondar • Lia Bowling and Jack Stoughton • H. Boxall • Robert J. Brebner • Jane F. Bryans • Lois Bryant • James Burdon • Alan Burns and Wen-Lin Sun • Alexandra Calland • Amethyst Campbell • Canada West Realty Ltd. • Stewart and Karen Carter • Peter K. Castley • Mrs. Maggie Chambers • J. Chibanoff • Clare Chrane • Sandra Clarke • Dr. Wendy A. Clay • Jane and Matthew Coady • Alan and Mary Coombes • Honora Cooper • Ms. Eva Cost • Lee Coulter • Victor A. Crawford • Daphne Crowe • The Cullen Family • Ralph A. Currie • Kirk and Marlyn Davis • Patrick and Barbara Dohm • Sarah Doughty • Helen Duffy • Robert W. Durie and Shirley Jo Durie • A. Jean Elder • Janis Ellis-White • Howard Ellsworth • C.R.A.W. Embleton • Gerry Fanaken • Reema Faris • Heather Farrar • Roger and Patricia Fether • Mrs. Barbara C. Fields • David and Laura Fisher • Wes and Heidi Fisher • P.C. Fletcher • Joan Ford • In Memory of Lynd Forguson • Jon Forsberg and Nancy Walker • Gordon and Janet Fretter • Vicki Gabereau • Jim and Darlene Gaffney • Neville and Jill Gibson • Roger and Nina Goodman • Peter Grant • Deborah Green • Wendy Lee Grenke • Donna J. Haley • Ian Hampton and Susan Round • Carl Hansen • Wayne and Barbara Harling • W.D. Harper • Nancy Hill • Norna E. Horner • Ms. Jan Huggan • Fiona Hunter • IBM Canada Ltd. • Helen Inglis • Cliff Jackman • Tony Jeffreys • Audrey Johnson • Lois and Gordon Jones • T.A. Jones • R. Joyce • Clive L. Justice • Peter and Carol Keighley • S.E. Keller • C. Ann Kenning • Janie Kennon • J.L. Kindred • Irene King • Marilynn King • Tony and Margie Knox • Patricia E. Kohler • Jan Korteweg • Lae Family Foundation • Rena Lawlan • Sandra Lim • Dr. Jan Lindsay • Heather Macdonald • Ms. Sarah MacDonald • Keith and Debbie MacMillan • Irene Magill • Dr. Stephen Makonin • Dr. K.H. and Mrs. M. Mascher • Patti McLaughlin • Pat McLeod • Bryan and Sherry Miles • Robert Minns • Helen Moore • Phil and Rose Moore • Rosamond Eben Moore • Terry and Margaret Morrison • Sharon Morrow • Dr. Anne Muirhead • Paul and Colleen Mulvihill • Robert and Ann Myers • Louise Neveu and Don Loewen • Anne Norman • Mr. Jesse K. Oliver • Carys Owen • Naomi Panchyson and Gary Rhindress • D.and S. Park • Charles M. Patton • Finlay Payne • Mr. and Mrs. Hans-Karl Piltz • Wayne and Delores Plenert • Rory and Vicki Polson • Nell Postans • Dr. Robert and Mrs. Karen Rangno • Eldon Richards • Susan M. Richardson • Shelagh Rogers • Susan Ross • Dr. Carl Rothschild and Ms. Pam Ottem • Kelly and Shirley Rowland • Anne and Don Russell • Ralph Sabey and Betty Sabey • Patricia S. Sanne • Marilyn Savage • James and Norma Sawada • David Schaffner • Leonard Schein • Christopher Schon • The Rev. T. and Mr. D. Shaw • Sharron J. Simpson • Peter-William and Sheila Ann Slade • Diane Smith • Jan L. Smith • M.S. Sonier • Lloyd J. and Christine Stadler • Hube and Karen Start • Mike Stephen • Gerald W. Steward • Richard and Rosemary Stewart • Ian and Jane Strang • Ron and Barbara Strange • Anita L. Stuart • Ron and Wendy Stuart • Mrs. Barbara Tait • Paul Thiessen • Janine A.S. Thomas • R. Thomas • Doreen M. Tomkins • Maria Angelica Valenzuela • David and Billie Vanderlinde • Ellen van Heerden and Jan Haggarty • Bryan Walwork • Joy Waters and David Neufeld • Donald Watson • A. Wegiel • Jean B. Weller • Tannis and Dave Wightman • Mrs. Laura Williams • Windsor Plywood Foundation, held at Vancouver Foundation • K.R. Wittenberg • Nancy Wood • W.A. Wood • Rickie Frances Wyllie • Mrs. Marianne Zandron • Lida Zikova • Anonymous (217)

> For information on Leadership or Legacy Gifts



Call Donna Robinson at: **Direct Line** 604.431.3136 **Toll-free** 1.877.456.6988 Or send us an email:

Leadership Gifts
leadershipcircle@knowledge.ca
Legacy Gifts
plannedgiving@knowledge.ca

Appendix A – Additional Information

Corporate Governance

Knowledge Network is governed by a Board of Directors that is responsible to the Minister of Tourism, Arts & Culture. The Ministry is responsible for policy direction while the Board is responsible for operational policy and setting the strategic direction of the organization. The President and CEO is responsible for the day-to-day leadership and management of Knowledge Network. Please <u>click here</u> for more information on Knowledge Network's corporate governance.

Organizational Overview

British Columbia's Knowledge Network is a viewer-supported public broadcaster. Our mission is to provide all British Columbians with a trusted alternative for the commercial-free exploration of life, connecting them to the world through television, web and mobile platforms. Please <u>click here</u> to learn more about Knowledge Network.

Contact Information

Knowledge Network Corporation 4355 Mathissi Place Burnaby, B.C. Canada V5G 4S8

Phone: 604.431.2222 Toll Free: 1.877.456.6988

Email: info@knowledge.ca

Knowledge.ca KnowledgeKids.ca

Appendix B – Subsidiaries and Operating Segments

Active Subsidiaries

Knowledge-West Communications Corporation (KWCC) was incorporated in 1981. KWCC owned and operated BBC Kids, a Canadian children's subscription channel. The CRTC approved KWCC's acquisition of assets for BBC Kids in April 2011. BBC Kids is a commercial-free service reinforcing the values of both Knowledge and the BBC. KWCC financial results are proportionately consolidated under Knowledge Network Corporation's audited financial statements.

After seven successful years of operations, the Knowledge-West Communications Corporation (KWCC) Board of Directors agreed to wind down the BBC Kids channel on December 31, 2018. Profitability of the service was impacted by a number of factors including changes in CRTC policies that disadvantage independent programming services such as BBC Kids.

During 2018/19, KWCC paid dividends totaling \$1,033M to its shareholders, of which Knowledge Network received \$400,000.

Resource Summary

(\$000)	2017/18 Actual	2018/19 Budget	2018/19 Actual				
Total Revenue	908	517	520				
Total Expenses	1,108	613	728				
Net Income/Excess of Revenue over Expenses/Annual Surplus (Deficit)	(200)	(96)	(208)				